



Submitted to Comptroller of the Treasury for the State of Tennessee March 12, 2021

Contents

Introduction	3
Product Offerings	
Competitive Environment	<u>C</u>
Marketing Plan	11
Fiber to Home Business Plan	12
Cost Benefit Analysis	12
Cost Allocation	12
Operations	13
Staffing	14
Sales	15
General and Administrative	15
Network Construction	15
Funding Proposal	16
Loans to Fiber Division	17
Use of Proceeds	17
Loan Payback Schedule	17
Fiber Division Proforma Financial Statements	18
Conclusion	22
Annendix	22

Introduction

Knoxville Utilities Board (KUB), an independent agency of the City of Knoxville, provides electric, natural gas, water, and wastewater services to more than 468,000 customers in Knoxville and parts of seven surrounding counties.

KUB's electric system spans more than 688 square miles and serves more than 210,000 customers each day. In order to meet the changing needs and expectations of its customers, KUB will need to make upgrades on its electric grid and implement innovative technologies that improve reliability and efficiency.

Many of the applications needed for these improvements depend on fast and reliable communication throughout the service territory that can be best provided by an extensive fiber system.

The future of KUB's electric grid depends upon fiber.

In addition to improving the KUB's electric system, the electric fiber network required for these systems would position KUB to be able to provide broadband services to meet the growing needs of its customers and community.

Since its inception, KUB has been committed to serving its customers and improving their quality of life by providing utility services that are safe, reliable, and affordable. In 2020, that mission became more important than ever. With the world facing a global pandemic, the necessity of vital utilities became much more apparent to utility providers, local and state governments, and customers.

The COVID-19 pandemic also highlighted the Knoxville community's reliance on high-speed broadband services. As the need for remote learning and work rose quickly, so did the demand for high-speed internet. The gaps in current services became evident, as that demand was not met in many households and entire communities, especially in rural areas. These needs and others generated interest in KUB's research from both local and state government officials.

In 2019, KUB recognized there was a potential need for expanded internet access in its community and decided to conduct a feasibility study to provide fiber-based internet, television, and voice services to customers in the electric service area. In July 2020, in the context of the pandemic, KUB conducted a Purchase Intent Survey to assess community needs for high-speed broadband, current satisfaction with existing providers, and potential success of KUB becoming a new entrant into the broadband service market.

The results of that survey (highlighted in detail in this report) emphasized that KUB's electric service territory has a need for increased internet access and that there is a desire for KUB to provide high-speed fiber internet. KUB is also uniquely positioned to provide these services due to recent or planned infrastructure upgrades.

It also became apparent through the survey that many customers, even those who live in densely populated areas, have access to only one provider. Many of those providers are unable to offer symmetrical upload and download speeds, meaning the upload speed is significantly slower than download speeds. This symmetry is something that KUB customers desire and something that KUB would be positioned to offer.

Customers have also recognized that both large and small municipalities across Tennessee offer broadband as a utility service and increasingly expect KUB to take the same position. They, like local government officials and interest groups, recognize the potential economic growth benefits experienced by similar-sized cities in East Tennessee and beyond who have chosen to provide this service.

KUB understands the issues facing our customers and understands their desire to have reliable, fast, and widely available internet service. KUB is also uniquely positioned to provide these services due to infrastructure upgrades that are planned or have already been implemented.

KUB's Grid Modernization: Positioned for Success

KUB's electric system serves a 688-square-mile service area and relies on 5,408 miles of service lines to serve approximately 210,000 customers.

In recent years, KUB's "Century II" capital program has focused on making proactive upgrades and repairs to infrastructure in each of its four utility systems. For the electric system, that means improvements to existing infrastructure and the addition of new technology to modernize the electric system and improve reliability.

In 2015, KUB launched a Grid Modernization effort that included the replacement of all KUB's electric, gas, and water meters with advanced meters. The deployment of advanced meters throughout KUB's service territory was completed in 2020 and is currently utilizing 150 miles of a planned 300 miles of high-speed fiber optic cable. This cable serves as a "backbone" for information sharing across the electric system and connects much of KUB's critical infrastructure, including all of KUB's 72 electric substations.

During the same period, KUB began a pilot of Fault Location Isolation and Restoration (FLISR) devices, a distributed automation technology, to improve electric reliability. The FLISR pilot has also proven successful, with an average improvement in reliability of 40 percent on circuits, reducing customer outage times by 1.8 million minutes in fiscal year 2020 where FLISR technology has been installed. Like the advanced meters, these devices depend on timely and reliable communication and utilize KUB's existing broadband infrastructure.

The success of the FLISR pilot has led to the expansion of the program, and KUB will have installed more than 80 devices on its electric system by the end of February 2021. KUB plans to continue to make improvements to its grid by expanding the reach of FLISR and other applications that improve efficiency and reliability, meeting its customers' needs and offering them more control over their utility experience.

The Future of KUB's Grid

The future of KUB's electric grid depends upon fiber.

Fiber infrastructure plays a critical role for future system applications that require low latency and high reliability communication to make real-time decisions for the electric grid.

Over the next several years, KUB plans to expand its FLISR program from 80 to 1,200 devices across the electric distribution system. These devices will be connected by fiber to create a self-healing, high reliability electric system. In FY 2021 alone, these investments are projected to reduce customer outage

time by 2.1 million minutes. KUB expects reliability to increase year-over-year with the installation of new devices and the expansion of the fiber network.

The reliability and speed offered by an expansive fiber network will position KUB to begin to pilot new applications enhancing operational, financial, and environmental benefits to the electric distribution system.

Fiber infrastructure plays a critical role for future system applications that require low latency and high reliability communication to make real-time decisions for the electric grid. It will eventually connect all KUB infrastructure and improve the reliability of KUB's Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) network.

The electric system will also use the fiber infrastructure to improve communications for Distributed Energy Resources (DER). Solar generating partners are the main provider of these resources today, but this infrastructure would also provide communications for future types of generation. These intelligent controllers will provide real-time visibility to distributed generation devices which would reduce peak demand loads on the electric grid. These devices would also provide an added level of safety to our crews by allowing remote disconnection of these DERs in restoration efforts.

The fiber system will also allow KUB to operate a more efficient electric system, saving energy and money, by allowing Volt/VAR Optimization applications to be deployed onto KUB's electric infrastructure. Based on the successes of other distributors within the TVA service territory, KUB plans to pilot Volt/VAR applications on its own electric system as the fiber network expands.

Finally, the fiber infrastructure will position KUB to implement Demand Response (DR) programs on the electric system and offer customers controllable thermostats, water heaters, and other heavy electric load devices within their homes. These devices reduce peak demand loads on the electric grid and can reduce peak power generation, which ultimately has environmental benefits.

The electric system will use the fiber infrastructure to provide options for our next generation Automated Metering Infrastructure (AMI). KUB has already implemented a wireless AMI solution, which will benefit from the fiber infrastructure. Each AMI base station will be equipped with reliable and low-latency connectivity, improving performance of this network. Having a fiber infrastructure in place provides ultimate flexibility for the next generation of AMI for KUB customers.

The electric fiber network required for these systems positions KUB to be able to provide improved broadband services to meet the growing needs of its customers and community. The Gigabit-speed internet and other broadband services that KUB plans to offer at competitive rates will deliver greater value to its customers, and at the same time will generate new revenues for KUB to help offset the cost of its infrastructure upgrades to the further benefit of its electric utility customers.

Management Statement

KUB has prepared a business plan to provide fiber optic high-speed broadband services within the electric service area, financially separate from the electric, natural gas, water, and wastewater systems. KUB plans to use a third-party voice over IP provider to deliver service through access of KUB's fiber system. In order to show the net financial benefits to KUB of allowing a third-party voice over IP provider to utilize KUB's network, the business plan reflects revenues, collected for and the pass through of voice over IP telephone service costs from a third-party voice over IP provider. The business

plan meets the statutory conditions of T.C. A. 7-52-601. If approved, KUB plans to establish a fifth utility division and establish sufficient control against cross-subsidization of revenues/expenses with the other four utility divisions. The new Fiber Division will adhere to the same organizational policies as other KUB divisions and provide its own audited financial statements.

- ✓ The proposed business plan does not serve any area where a privately held cable television
 operator is providing cable services over a cable system and in total serves 6,000 or fewer
 subscribers over one or more cable systems.
- ✓ The proposed business plan does not serve any area where there is an existing telephone cooperative that has been providing cable service for not less than ten (10) years under the authority of the Federal Communications Commission.

As per T.C.A. 7-52-602, KUB's Board of Commissioners provided approval through resolution for submittal of the business plan to the State of Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury on March 11, 2021. A copy of the resolution can be found in the business plan's appendix.

Also included in the business plan's appendix, are KUB's most current audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020.

Knoxville Utilities Board of Commissioners:

The Reverend Dr. Jerry Askew, Chair (jerry.askew@kub.org)
John Worden, Vice Chair (john.worden@kub.org)
Claudia Caballero (claudia.caballero@kub.org)
Kathy Hamilton (kathy.hamilton@kub.org)
Celeste Herbert (celeste.herbert@kub.org)
Adrienne Simpson-Brown (adrienne.simpson-brown@kub.)
Tyvi Small (tyvi.small@kub.org)

Senior Executive Management:

Gabriel Bolas II, President and Chief Executive Officer (bolas@kub.org)

Eddie Black, Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer (black@kub.org)

Susan Edwards, Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer (edwards@kub.org)

Derwin Hagood, Senior Vice President of Operations (hagood@kub.org)

Tiffany Martin, Vice President and Chief Customer Officer (martin@kub.org)

Mark Walker, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (walker@kub.org)

John Williams, Senior Vice President of Engineering and Construction (williams@kub.org)

KUB's Commissioners and Mr. Bolas can be contacted by mail at P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, Tennessee 37950.

Product Offerings

KUB's Purchase Intent Survey of potential broadband customers highlighted that customer service, reliability, and speed were the main attributes upon which they valued their broadband service. Prices paid for existing service were on average \$76 while the median payment was \$60. A variety of download speeds are available in the market and most consumers have access to a maximum download speed of 400 Mbps. Most internet packages do not have symmetrical upload speeds and most do not exceed 20 Mbps.

Responses to the survey showed that more than 76 percent of responders were interested in KUB providing service and more than 50 percent of the responses stated they would consider switching to a KUB product at a similar price as their current provider.

Based upon this information, KUB has positioned a product lineup that provides superior speeds while maintaining a very competitive market value.

KUB's proposed residential internet services begin at 1 Gbps for both download and upload speeds. The price of \$64.99/month is below the average price of existing competitors and at the entry level of one gigabit speeds, well over the current market's maximum offerings. KUB also seeks to provide an enhanced customer experience with the managed router service that provides optimization of wi-fi service through local technical support.

KUB RESIDENTIAL INTERNET SERVICES	PRICING
RESIDENTIAL 1.0 GBPS	\$ 64.99 monthly
RESIDENTIAL 2.5 GBPS	\$149.99 monthly
RESIDENTIAL MANAGED ROUTER	\$ 14.99 monthly

KUB also plans to provide internet services to business customers ranging from a basic 500 Mbps data symmetrical service for small businesses to professional data services with managed routers beginning at \$899.99 monthly for 1 Gbps symmetrical service. Similar to KUB's residential products, KUB seeks to provide business internet services with superior speeds at a competitive market value. KUB also seeks to provide an enhanced customer experience with the managed router service that provides dedicated local technical support to business internet customers. Professional engineered internet services will include guaranteed service response times and custom solutions based on customer needs.

KUB BUSINESS INTERNET SERVICES	PRICING
BUSINESS 500 MBPS	\$ 84.99 monthly
BUSINESS 1.0 GBPS	\$149.99 monthly
BUSINESS MANAGED ROUTER	\$ 19.99 monthly
BUSINESS PROFESSIONAL 1.0 GBPS	\$899.99 monthly*
*startina rate	•

The market for voice over IP and land line telephone has declined with the growth of cellular services over the last decade, especially in customers under the age of 65. Approximately 42 percent of KUB's customers indicated they have a traditional home telephone. Most of those customers pay less than \$35 a month for phone services. Long distance (LD) services are widely varied in the Knoxville market among eligible providers. However, most do provide an unlimited LD package. KUB plans to contract with a third-party voice over IP provider that will utilize KUB's broadband network to provide standard features including caller identification and call waiting as part of the phone service.

VOIP RESIDENTIAL PHONE SERVICES	PRICING
120 MIN LONG DISTANCE	\$30 monthly
UNLIMITED LONG DISTANCE	\$40 monthly

Surveyed KUB customers indicated that reliability and a variety of programming were important aspects of television service. Customers also indicated that pricing was a determinant for low customer satisfaction. The average monthly residential customer payment for television services is \$103. KUB's business plan does not reflect any margin from sales of television services. The prices listed below are starting competitive rates and would reflect the flow through of changes in wholesale costs in future years. KUB acknowledges the likelihood that wholesale television costs increase at an average of 8 - 10% increase annually. Therefore, retail rates would likely also rise in response. For purposes of the business plan the retail rate and correlating cost of service are held flat due to the unknown potential increase in wholesale cost in the future.

KUB TELEVISION SERVICES	PRICING
BRONZE 22 CHANNELS	\$24 monthly
SILVER 95 CHANNELS	\$76 monthly
GOLD 155 CHANNELS	\$94 monthly

In KUB's product model, any electric system customer that desires voice over IP or television services would be required to purchase internet services. However, electric system customers may choose to have internet services without any other product offering. Pricing for bundled services would be derived from aggregate pricing given that phone and television services can only be purchased with internet services.

Competitive Environment

While the majority of the KUB Electric service territory has access to broadband service, many consumers have only a single provider. For both internet and television services, Comcast/Xfinity is the leading provider in the Knoxville market followed by AT&T. This limited competition and the demand for choice was evident in the results of KUB's Purchase Intent Survey. More than half the customers surveyed indicated they purchased internet services from Comcast/Xfinity and a large majority of those customers would be interested in purchasing internet services from KUB if pricing was comparable. Nearly 80 percent of customers surveyed were interested in KUB becoming an option for providing broadband services.

Shown below are current residential retail rates from existing providers and proposed KUB products for comparison. These figures were gathered in the Winter of 2021 (promotional discounts and other fees and charges not reflected). Note that some providers only serve a small portion of KUB's overall electric service territory.

PROVIDER ORDER BY MARKET SHARE	300 MBPS INTERNET ONLY	1,000 MBPS INTERNET ONLY				
KUB (PROPOSED)	N/A	\$64.99				
COMCAST/XFINITY	\$96 (400 MBPS)	\$116				
AT&T	\$65	\$80				
wow!	\$59.99 (500 MBPS)	\$79.99				
SPECTRUM	\$69.99 (400 MBPS)	\$129.99				
TDS	\$72.95	\$112.95				
PROVIDER	300 MBPS INTERNET &	1,000 MBPS INTERNET &				
ORDER BY MARKET SHARE	AVERAGE TV	AVERAGE TV				
KUB (PROPOSED)	N/A	\$140.99				
COMCAST/XFINITY	\$146 (400 MBPS)	\$166				
AT&T	\$168	\$183				
wow!	N/A	N/A				
SPECTRUM	\$159.98 (400 MBPS)	\$219.98				
TDS	\$127.95	\$167.95				
PROVIDER	300 MBPS INTERNET,	1,000 MBPS INTERNET, AVERAGE				
ORDER BY MARKET SHARE	AVERAGE TV & PHONE	TV & PHONE				
KUB (PROPOSED)	N/A	\$170.99				
COMCAST/XFINITY	\$156 (400 MBPS)	\$176				
AT&T	N/A	N/A				
wow!	N/A	N/A				
SPECTRUM	\$169.98 (400 MBPS)	\$229.98				
TDS	\$152.95	\$192.95				

KUB believes that offering a high-speed internet service with symmetrical download and upload speeds with no limit on data usage will differentiate KUB's service from existing providers. Incumbent providers do not offer these attributes and, as such, KUB's products provide a distinct and unique choice for service in the Knoxville area. These product attributes, along with competitive pricing, position KUB's products well in the competitive environment.

Municipal providers of broadband services in the region have experienced take rates between 50 and 70 percent. In addition, KUB's survey results indicated that 80 percent of respondents are interested in KUB providing broadband services. More than 50 percent of survey responders indicated that with a similar price and product they would switch internet service to KUB. KUB anticipates up to a 50 percent take rate for electric system customers as fiber broadband services become available similar to our peers. KUB anticipates a competitive response to KUB broadband services. Thus, financial projections included in this business plan are based on a conservative 35 percent take rate.

Leading providers in the market often provide promotional discounts for the first year of service. While KUB does not anticipate promotional pricing, the retail rate listed above remains competitive with the market. In addition, many competitors have added costs such as equipment rental, broadcast and sports television fees, and taxes not reflected in the retail rates listed above. KUB anticipates the pass through of taxes only to the retail customer. As a result, the billed rates to customers are anticipated to be at or below the leading providers in the market.

There are areas in our service territory that do not have access to wired internet service because it is not currently economically feasible for the incumbent providers to extend their systems into those areas. There are several examples that have been reported to KUB through our research where the cost to serve individual residences is simply not feasible in the current competitive environment. Details presented in this business case position KUB to serve these customers.

Marketing Plan

KUB's Communications Department, three planned full-time marketing employees, and senior management will execute a marketing plan building on KUB's brand of reliable and affordable services. KUB will launch a marketing program in the fall of 2022 and has budgeted \$12 million over the seven year build out period to fund the program.

 Year 1		Year 2	Year 2 Y		∕ear3 Year4			Year 5	Year 6	Year 7		
\$ 800,000	\$	1,900,000	\$	2,100,000	\$	2,100,000	\$	1,800,000	\$ 1,600,000	\$	1,800,000	

KUB will begin to build an awareness campaign in the months leading up to the onset of construction of the broadband system. Existing print and digital platforms – including KUB customer bills, KUB's customer website, Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, and Nextdoor pages – will be used to promote the benefits of KUB fiber, including and not limited to highlighting the community and commercial benefits.

KUB will also work with community partners and utilize existing media partnerships to increase awareness and brand visibility in its electric service territory.

As the system is built, and fiber services become available, KUB will use targeted print and digital advertising to reach customers who are eligible to begin services. A series of concurrent campaigns will be used to focus on the areas where KUB fiber is available through targeted digital advertisements, paid and targeted social media placement, and print bill messaging.

KUB will also use traditional media, like local newspapers and broadcast networks, to advertise KUB broadband internet services. Well-designed print advertisements will be placed in local business journals and a variety of 30-second television commercials will be aired on stations in the Knoxville market, highlighting benefits to both commercial and residential customers.

Direct sales employees will contact newly eligible customers as the system grows to ensure each potential fiber customer understands the capability and benefits of the new product. In total, KUB anticipates the addition of 15 full-time sales employees during the peak of the build out period.

As the system is completed and becomes more universally available, KUB will run consistent campaigns on the previously mentioned platforms to highlight promotions and packages available to eligible customers. KUB will also expand campaign platforms to include billboards, signage, and partnerships that are visible to customers in the fiber service territory. Each message will include a call to action to visit KUB's customer website where they can easily browse packages and sign up for services.

To supplement the newly hired marketing and sales teams, KUB customer service representatives and employees will be educated to share information about the benefits of KUB broadband services and to help promote the products at work and in the community.

Fiber to Home Business Plan

Cost Benefit Analysis

KUB's Fiber Division will provide internet service to both residential and commercial customers with voice over IP and television as optional additional services for residential customers. KUB plans to use a third-party provider for hosting of services. KUB has projected a 35 percent take rate among its electric system residential customers, but market analysis indicates that take rates approaching 50 percent are likely. Projected annual revenue for the Fiber Division is shown below:

Year	Revenue	Internet Customer Count
Year 1	\$4.4 million	6,150
Year 2	\$17.8 million	18,500
Year 3	\$36.4 million	32,000
Year 4	\$55.8 million	45,600
Year 5	\$73.7 million	57,350
Year 6	\$87.2 million	65,000
Year 7	\$96.3 million	70,700

Capital investment for the Fiber Division for communication components of the fiber network totaling \$18.3 million will be made over the seven year build out period. In addition, the Fiber Division will incur Operation and Maintenance (O&M) expenditures estimated at \$337.8 million over the same period which are explained in the sections below. Projections indicate that break even will occur in year eight as cumulative revenues exceed cumulative expenditures.

Cost Allocation

In addition to direct O&M expenditures, KUB's Fiber Division will pay Access and Electric Distribution System Utilization Fees to the Electric Division.

The access fee allocation is derived from the proportional share of fiber related depreciation, O&M expenses, tax equivalents, and cost of capital of the Electric Division based on customer count for each system. (Further detail can be found in the financial statement section)

Fiber Division Access Fee Calculation	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7
Total Expense to Allocate	\$ 4,502,621	\$ 10,274,028	\$ 17,683,086	\$ 24,933,190	\$ 31,825,810	\$ 37,933,881	\$ 44,599,813
Electric Portion of the Costs	4,277,627	8,888,196	13,968,316	18,145,484	21,752,058	24,997,903	28,691,830
Fiber Division Access Fees	224,993	1,385,832	3,714,771	6,787,705	10,073,752	12,935,977	15,907,982
	\$ 4,502,621	\$ 10,274,028	\$ 17,683,086	\$ 24,933,190	\$ 31,825,810	\$ 37,933,881	\$ 44,599,813

KUB's Electric Division will initially use fiber for services at the retail customer level to test and pilot various electric system applications utilizing the fiber network and for other electric system uses outlined in the Introduction section above. KUB's Fiber Division is initially projected to pay the Electric Division 100 percent of annual depreciation for services and the correlating tax equivalents as part of the access fee calculation. However, as the services are more fully utilized by metering or other applications in the future, the proportional shares to the Fiber Division and the Electric Division will be re-evaluated.

Fiber Division Access Fee Calculation	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7
PILOTs Services	-	131,346	465,848	813,016	1,140,855	1,433,290	1,646,465
Annual Depreciation Services	237,600	850,813	1,507,863	2,152,370	2,754,827	3,234,465	3,798,941
Facilities Rent	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094

The Electric Distribution System Utilization Fee is calculated at KUB's current \$36 annual pole attachment rate for each fiber related attachment. The electric distribution system utilization rate is derived from the approved Tennessee Valley Authority methodology reflecting depreciation and maintenance expenses of KUB's electric distribution system not related to wire, fiber, or conduit.

A projection of total fees paid to the Electric Division from the Fiber Division by fiscal year is shown below:

		Year 1	Year 2		Year 3	3 Year 4		Year 5		Year 6		Year 7		
Electric Access Fee Revenue	\$	489,687	\$	2,395,084	\$	5,715,576	\$	9,780,185	\$	13,996,527	\$	17,630,826	\$	21,380,482
EL Distribution System Utilization Fee	Ś	390,204	Ś	1.099.800	Ś	1,962,036	Ś	2.862.036	Ś	3.473.460	Ś	4.229.532	Ś	5.030.928

KUB's Fiber Division will also pay its proportional share of shared expenses with KUB's other four divisions as explained in detail in the General and Administrative section below. KUB's Fiber Division will reflect the same allocation methodology of KUB's other utility divisions as part of KUB's existing financial controls and financial reporting requirements.

Operations

KUB will leverage experienced professionals and consultants to assist in guidance through the design and setup phase. KUB anticipates that early phases of plant construction will require heavy utilization of experienced third-party construction contractors with internal management oversight. As the build out continues into later phases, KUB will shift from relying heavily on third-party contractors to operations being primarily performed by KUB employees with supplemental support from third party contractors.

During the first year (phase 1), there will be four areas built to serve between 15,000 and 20,000 eligible customers. The infrastructure for the remaining 180,000 customers will be built over the next six years of deployment, which results in a seven-year deployment for our entire electric service territory.

Customer installations will be completed by an installation contractor through the seven-year deployment. Throughout the deployment, KUB will begin hiring KUB employee installation technicians that can install and troubleshoot customer issues. KUB seeks an appropriate balance of KUB employees and contractors that will support future installations and troubleshooting.

Upon the completion of the seven-year plant build, KUB anticipates that its electric system operations (including an expanded fiber network) would continue to be operationally managed and maintained with a combination of both employees and third-party hourly contract labor.

Staffing

With the establishment of the KUB Fiber Division, additional full-time positions in the areas of marketing, sales, technical support, field installations and information technology are planned. The fiber system will fund these new positions as they are directly related to service delivery to the fiber at home customer.

A summary of additional full-time positions to support the fiber system by fiscal year are listed below. A total of 111 full time positions are projected at full fiber deployment in year seven.

Fiber Staffing Plan	CY	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7
Marketing								
Manager		1						
Analyst		2						
Sales								
Supervisor			1					
Representative		3	7	1		-1		
Commercial Supervisor		1						
Commercial Representative		1	1	1				
Customer Service								
Supervisor		1						
Representative		1	2	3	2	1	1	2
Tech Support Supervisor		1		1				
Tech Support Rep		2	8	8	6	4	3	4
Enterprise Support Supervisor				1				
Enterprise Support Representative		1	2	3				
Field Installations & Repair								
Team Lead		1						
Supervisor			1	1				1
Technician		3	6	6	5	4	3	3
Information Technology								
Developer		2				-1		
Web Developer		1					-1	
Total	0	21	28	25	14	7	6	10
Cumulative Total	0	21	49	74	88	95	101	111

Sales

KUB plans to hire four experienced sales employees in the first year of system construction and increase the workforce through the first several years of service. The sales team will be responsible for customer outreach and engagement, building awareness, and adding customers to the KUB network.

The sales team will focus on both commercial and residential customers, supporting marketing efforts and ensuring customers are educated on their purchases, building lasting relationships. The team will use a combination of phone, digital, print, and personal outreach to promote residential and business packages.

The sales team will follow-up on leads generated by marketing campaigns and assist customers with service agreements. They will coordinate with construction team leads to have a detailed understanding of where new customers are being added, focusing their direct outreach in those areas.

General and Administrative

KUB's Fiber Division will participate in the allocation of shared expenditures for general and administrative services including accounting, information services, and human resources. The fiber system's proportional share will be derived from customer count annually until year eight where net assets and revenue from sales will also be a component of the allocation of shared expenses. Shown below are the projected proportional share of allocated expenditures for the Fiber Division by fiscal year.

	Year	1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7
-	\$ 557.	310	\$ 2.287.200	\$ 4.104.030	\$ 5.407.020	\$ 7.383.241	\$ 8.186.882	\$ 9.019.503

The Fiber Division will also incur direct expenses to operate the system including installation of services inside the premise, customer operations, and sales. Reflected in the Fiber Division's direct expenses are salaries and benefits for approximately 107 full time employees at full build out in FY28. Shown below is the projected annual operation and maintenance expenditures for the fiber system by fiscal year (excluding cost of services for television and phone).

Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7
\$ 6,175,477	\$ 9,907,543	\$12,506,933	\$14,018,771	\$14,582,462	\$15,057,922	\$16,745,993

Network Construction

KUB anticipates more than 5,000 miles of fiber to be constructed by the Electric Division over the seven-year build out period. Most of the build will be aerial (80%) with a remainder of urban build out underground. Aerial construction costs include make ready and pole replacement expenditures for a small portion of the electric system. Capital investment for service installation will lag the build out of the fiber backbone in year one of the project.

Funding Proposal

The Fiber Division will invest \$18.3 million over the seven year build out period on communication equipment to enable fiber to home services.

The Fiber Division will incur approximately \$337.8 million in operating expenses over the seven year build out. Included in the operating expenses for the fiber system are access fee and electric distribution system utilization fees to the electric system annually that reflects its portion of depreciation, cost of capital, taxes, and distribution system maintenance. The fiber system will also contribute its proportional share of organizational shared expenses along with KUB's other divisions.

Taxes and tax equivalents are projected to be \$3.8 million for the fiber system over the seven year build out period. Reflected in projected taxes are Payment in Lieu of Taxes estimated at \$1.3 million over the same period.

Taxes and Equivalents	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7
PILOTs on Net Plant	-	24,675	66,941	116,635	219,287	395,909	502,350

Franchise, excise, sales, and local privilege taxes will be paid by the Fiber Division similar to other providers of broadband services. KUB plans to directly flow through the cost for those taxes to the customer.

The Electric Division will provide \$35 million in loans to the Fiber Division over the first two years to fund capital and operational expenses with anticipated re-payment by full build out in year nine.

KUB's Fiber Division projected revenue is based on a 35 percent take rate for eligible electric system customers with all areas reached by the end of year seven. Combined projected customers by product service is shown below by fiscal year:

35,182
67,000
17,340
30
3,737
123,288

The associated projected revenue from sales for the Fiber Division is reflected below:

Video & Internet Services Revenue:	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	
Residential Video Bronze 22CH	120,470	478,380	968,281	1,468,148	1,919,301	2,246,093	2,451,638	}
Residential Video Silver 95CH	839,036	3,331,765	6,743,771	10,225,182	13,367,317	15,643,325	17,074,880)
Residential Video Gold 155CH	377,356	1,498,459	3,033,007	4,598,770	6,011,943	7,035,577	7,679,417	7
Total Video	\$ 1,336,863	\$ 5,308,604	\$10,745,059	\$ 16,292,100	\$21,298,561	\$ 24,924,996	\$27,205,935	j
Residential Internet 1.0 GBPS	2,292,847	9,171,389	18,724,919	28,660,590	37,831,979	44,710,520	49,296,215	j
Residential Internet 2.5 GBPS	107,993	431,971	881,941	1,349,910	1,781,881	2,105,860	2,321,845	j
Managed Router Service	269,820	1,079,280	2,203,530	3,372,750	4,452,030	5,261,490	5,801,130)
Total Res Internet	\$ 2,670,660	\$ 10,682,640	\$21,810,390	\$ 33,383,250	\$44,065,890	\$ 52,077,870	\$57,419,190)
Residential Phone LD120	74,088	588,492	1,191,384	1,806,804	2,362,536	2,765,412	3,019,176	j
Residential Phone Unlimited	197,568	784,656	1,588,512	2,409,072	3,150,048	3,687,216	4,025,568	3
Total Res Phone	\$ 271,656	\$ 1,373,148	\$ 2,779,896	\$ 4,215,876	\$ 5,512,584	\$ 6,452,628	\$ 7,044,744	Ļ
Business Internet 500 MBPS	58,913	236,582	534,881	955,703	1,440,170	1,928,465	2,420,617	1
Business Internet 1.0 GBPS	44,558	178,937	404,552	722,838	1,089,260	1,458,577	1,830,812	2
Business Managed Router for 1 G	2,375	11,952	26,431	45,888	65,499	85,265	105,187	1
Business Internet Professional 1.0 GBPS	-	27,000	81,000	135,000	189,000	243,000	297,000)
	\$ 105,846	\$ 454,471	\$ 1,046,863	\$ 1,859,429	\$ 2,783,929	\$ 3,715,306	\$ 4,653,615	í
•	\$ 4,385,025	\$ 17,818,863	\$36,382,208	\$ 55,750,654	\$73,660,964	\$ 87,170,800	\$96,323,484	Γ

Loans to Fiber Division

The Electric Division will loan the Fiber Division \$35 million over the first two years.

Year 1 - \$20 million Year 2 - \$15 million

Use of Proceeds

The Fiber Division will use the \$35 million loan proceeds to fund the purchase of capitalized communication equipment, direct and shared operating expenses, taxes, and access and electric distribution system utilization fees to the Electric Division. The Fiber Division will pay monthly interest to the Electric Division estimated at \$7.8 million over the life of the loan, which will be repaid by June 2030. An interest rate of 3.6 percent was used that reflects the FY20 weighted average cost of debt for the Electric Division.

Loan Payback Schedule

Projected net income and cash position indicates that the Fiber Division will become cash solvent by year seven and will re-pay the loans to the Electric Division in year nine.

Year 2 - \$750 thousand Year 3 - \$1.56 million Year 4 - \$1.75 million
Year 5 - \$1.75 million Year 6 - \$1.75 million
Year 8 - \$15 million Year 9 - \$4.2 million

A copy of the Loan Amortization Schedule is included in Appendix D.

Fiber Division Proforma Financial Statements

The Fiber Division cash position and funds flow statements are shown below and reflects a total of \$35 million in interdivisional loans from the Electric Division.

KUB Fiber Division

	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10
Beginning Cash Balance	\$ -	\$ 13,425,435	\$ 20,331,548	\$ 14,898,898	\$ 11,913,647	\$ 10,242,621	\$ 15,880,346	\$ 17,764,919	\$ 14,815,008	\$ 24,995,531
Total Sales Revenue	\$ 4,385,025	\$ 17,818,863	\$ 36,382,208	\$ 55,750,654	\$ 73,660,964	\$ 87,170,800	\$ 96,323,484	\$ 102,586,385	\$ 105,677,359	\$ 106,611,495
Cash Loan and Repayment	\$ 20,000,000	\$ 14,250,000	\$ (1,562,500)	\$ (1,750,000)	\$ (1,750,000)	\$ (1,750,000)	\$ (8,237,500)	\$ (15,000,000)	\$ (4,200,000)	\$ -
Total Cash Expenditures	\$ (10,959,590)	\$ (25,162,750)	\$ (40,252,359)	\$ (56,985,905)	\$ (73,581,990)	\$ (79,783,075)	\$ (86,201,411)	\$ (90,536,297)	\$ (91,296,836)	\$ (103,060,825)
Net Annual Cash Change	\$ 13,425,435	\$ 6,906,113	\$ (5,432,650)	\$ (2,985,250)	\$ (1,671,026)	\$ 5,637,725	\$ 1,884,573	\$ (2,949,912)	\$ 10,180,524	\$ 3,550,669
Total Net Cash Position	\$ 13,425,435	\$ 20,331,548	\$ 14,898,898	\$ 11,913,647	\$ 10,242,621	\$ 15,880,346	\$ 17,764,919	\$ 14,815,008	\$ 24,995,531	\$ 28,546,201

Eiber Div	ricion Dr	oforma	Cach [Elow	Statement
FIDEL DIV	VISION FIG	Jioima	Casii i		Statement

	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10
Cash flows from operating activities										
Cash receipts from customers	\$ 4,385,025	\$ 17,818,863	\$ 36,382,208	\$ 55,750,654	\$ 73,660,964	\$ 87,170,800	\$ 96,323,484	\$ 102,586,385	\$ 105,677,359	\$ 106,611,495
Cash payments to suppliers	\$ (5,955,035)	\$(13,747,023)	\$ (22,035,665)	\$ (29,622,473)	\$ (36,634,489)	\$ (41,378,248)	\$ (45,248,590)	\$ (49,071,304)	\$ (49,765,688)	\$ (50,099,471)
Cash payments to Electric Division (fees)	\$ (879,891)	\$ (3,494,884)	\$ (7,677,612)	\$ (12,642,221)	\$ (17,469,987)	\$ (21,860,358)	\$ (26,411,410)	\$ (28,192,287)	\$ (28,569,505)	\$ (28,862,614)
Cash payments to employees	\$ (2,223,277)	\$ (4,305,583)	\$ (6,154,326)	\$ (7,360,180)	\$ (8,007,921)	\$ (8,404,708)	\$ (9,272,685)	\$ (8,983,457)	\$ (9,137,070)	\$ (9,290,682)
Payment of taxes and in lieu of taxes	\$ (113,387)	\$ (251,500)	\$ (396,826)	\$ (516,575)	\$ (659,277)	\$ (863,585)	\$ (1,026,691)	\$ (1,064,903)	\$ (1,111,368)	\$ (1,156,722)
Net cash provided from operating activities	\$ (4,786,565)	\$ (3,980,127)	\$ 117,780	\$ 5,609,205	\$ 10,889,289	\$ 14,663,900	\$ 14,364,108	\$ 15,274,433	\$ 17,093,729	\$ 17,202,005
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities										
Net proceeds from interdivisional loan	\$20,000,000	\$ 15,000,000	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Principal payment on interdivisional loan	\$ -	\$ (750,000)	\$ (1,562,500)	\$ (1,750,000)	\$ (1,750,000)	\$ (1,750,000)	\$ (8,237,500)	\$ (15,000,000)	\$ (4,200,000)	\$ -
Interest payment on interdivisional loan	\$ (480,000)	\$ (1,071,000)	\$ (1,209,750)	\$ (1,147,875)	\$ (1,084,875)	\$ (1,021,875)	\$ (958,875)	\$ (662,325)	\$ (122,325)	\$ (0)
Acquisition and construction of fiber plant	\$ (1,308,000)	\$ (2,292,760)	\$ (2,778,180)	\$ (5,696,580)	\$ (9,725,440)	\$ (6,254,300)	\$ (3,283,160)	\$ (2,562,020)	\$ (2,590,880)	\$ (2,619,740)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities	\$18,212,000	\$ 10,886,240	\$ (5,550,430)	\$ (8,594,455)	\$ (12,560,315)	\$ (9,026,175)	\$ (12,479,535)	\$ (18,224,345)	\$ (6,913,205)	\$ (2,619,740)
Cash flows from investing activities										
Purchase of investment securities	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (11,031,596)
Maturities of investment securities	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Interest received	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (11,031,596)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$13,425,435	\$ 6,906,113	\$ (5,432,650)	\$ (2,985,250)	\$ (1,671,026)	\$ 5,637,725	\$ 1,884,573	\$ (2,949,912)	\$ 10,180,524	\$ 3,550,669
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	\$ -	\$ 13,425,435	\$ 20,331,548	\$ 14,898,898	\$ 11,913,647	\$ 10,242,621	\$ 15,880,346	\$ 17,764,919	\$ 14,815,008	\$ 24,995,531
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$13,425,435	\$ 20,331,548	\$ 14,898,898	\$ 11,913,647	\$ 10,242,621	\$ 15,880,346	\$ 17,764,919	\$ 14,815,008	\$ 24,995,531	\$ 28,546,201

KUB Fiber Division - Statement of Net Position

	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10
Current Assets Cash Operating Contingency Reserves	\$13,425,435 \$-	\$ 20,331,548 \$ -	\$ 14,898,898 \$ -	\$11,913,647 \$-	\$10,242,621 \$-	\$15,880,346 \$-	\$ 17,764,919 \$ -	\$ 14,815,008 \$ -	\$24,995,531 \$-	\$28,546,201 \$11,031,596
Capital Assets Plant in Service Accumulated Depreciation	\$ 1,308,000 -	\$ 3,600,760 (52,320)	\$ 6,378,940 (196,350)	\$ 12,075,520 (451,508)	\$21,800,960 (814,529)	\$28,055,260 (1,426,567)	\$31,338,420 (2,228,778)	\$33,900,440 (3,162,314)	\$36,491,320 (4,198,332)	\$39,111,060 (5,337,985)
Total Assets	\$14,733,435	\$ 23,879,988	\$ 21,081,487	\$23,537,659	\$31,229,052	\$42,509,039	\$46,874,562	\$45,553,133	\$57,288,519	\$73,350,872
Other Liabilities Inter-divisional Loan	\$20,000,000	\$ 34,250,000	\$ 32,687,500	\$30,937,500	\$29,187,500	\$27,437,500	\$19,200,000	\$ 4,200,000	\$ 0	\$ 0
Total Liabilities	\$20,000,000	\$ 34,250,000	\$ 32,687,500	\$30,937,500	\$29,187,500	\$27,437,500	\$19,200,000	\$ 4,200,000	\$ 0	\$ 0
Net Position	\$ (5,266,565)	\$(10,370,012)	\$(11,606,013)	\$ (7,399,841)	\$ 2,041,552	\$15,071,539	\$27,674,561	\$41,353,133	\$57,288,519	\$73,350,872
Total liabilities and net position	\$14,733,435	\$ 23,879,988	\$ 21,081,487	\$23,537,659	\$31,229,052	\$42,509,039	\$46,874,562	\$45,553,133	\$57,288,519	\$73,350,872

Video & Internet Services Revenue:	Year 1		Year 2	Yea	r 3	١	Year 4	Ye	ar 5	Ye	ear 6	Yea	ır 7		Year 8		Year 9		Year 10
Residential Video Bronze 22CH	120,470		478,380	96	8,281	1	,468,148	1,9	19,301	2,2	246,093	2,45	1,638		2,577,259		2,617,009		2,610,132
Residential Video Silver 95CH	839,036		3,331,765	6,74	3,771	10	,225,182	13,3	67,317	15,6	343,325	17,07	74,880		17,949,785		18,226,631		18,178,739
Residential Video Gold 155CH	377,356		1,498,459	3,03	3,007	4	,598,770	6,0	11,943	7,0	35,577	7,67	79,417		8,072,906		8,197,417		8,175,878
Total Video	\$ 1,336,863	\$	5,308,604	\$10,74	5,059	\$16	5,292,100	\$ 21,2	98,561	\$ 24,9	924,996	\$27,20)5,935	\$	28,599,949	\$	29,041,057	\$	28,964,749
Residential Internet 1.0 GBPS	2,292,847		9,171,389	18,72	4,919	28	3,660,590	37,8	31,979	44,7	710,520	49,29	96,215		52,353,344		53,711,092		54,135,410
Residential Internet 2.5 GBPS	107,993		431,971	88	1,941	1	,349,910	1,7	81,881	2,1	105,860	2,32	21,845		2,465,836		2,529,785		2,549,771
Managed Router Service	269,820		1,079,280	2,20	3,530	3	3,372,750	4,4	52,030	5,2	261,490	5,80	1,130		6,160,890		6,320,668		6,370,602
Total Res Internet	\$ 2,670,660	\$1	0,682,640	\$21,81	0,390	\$33	3,383,250	\$44,0	65,890	\$ 52,0	077,870	\$57,41	19,190	\$	60,980,070	\$	62,561,546	\$	63,055,782
Residential Phone LD120	74,088		588,492	1,19	1,384	1	,806,804	2,3	62,536	2,7	765,412	3,01	19,176		3,174,624		3,224,362		3,216,685
Residential Phone Unlimited	197,568		784,656	1,58	8,512	2	2,409,072	3,1	50,048	3,6	87,216	4,02	25,568		4,232,832		4,299,149		4,288,913
Total Res Phone	\$ 271,656	\$	1,373,148	\$ 2,77	9,896	\$ 4	,215,876	\$ 5,5	12,584	\$ 6,4	152,628	\$ 7,04	14,744	\$	7,407,456	\$	7,523,511	\$	7,505,598
Business Internet 500 MBPS	58,913		236,582	53	4,881		955,703	1,4	40,170	1,9	928,465	2,42	20,617		2,916,657		3,416,615		3,688,996
Business Internet 1.0 GBPS	44,558		178,937	40	4,552		722,838	1,0	89,260	1,4	158,577	1,83	30,812		2,205,987		2,584,127		2,790,139
Business Managed Router for 1 G	2,375		11,952	2	6,431		45,888		65,499		85,265	10	5,187		125,266		145,504		147,231
Business Internet Professional 1.0 GBPS	-		27,000	8	1,000		135,000	1	89,000	2	243,000	29	97,000		351,000		405,000		459,000
_	\$ 105,846	\$	454,471	\$ 1,04	6,863	\$ 1	,859,429	\$ 2,7	83,929	\$ 3,7	715,306	\$ 4,65	3,615	\$	5,598,910	\$	6,551,246	\$	7,085,366
	\$ 4,385,025	\$1	7,818,863	\$ 36,38	2,208	\$ 55	,750,654	\$73,6	60,964	\$87,1	170,800	\$96,32	23,484	\$ 1	02,586,385	\$ 1	105,677,359	\$ 1	106,611,495

The Fiber Division Use of Proceeds is reflected below which includes fees paid to the Electric Division for interest and principal loan repayment, access fees, and electric distriution system utilization fees.

Fiber Division Use of Proceeds

	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10
Capital										
Internet Communication Components	1,308,000	2,292,760	2,778,180	2,696,580	2,725,440	3,254,300	3,283,160	2,562,020	2,590,880	2,619,740
Real Property and Facility				3,000,000	7,000,000	3,000,000				
Total Capital	\$ 1,308,000	\$ 2,292,760	\$ 2,778,180	\$ 5,696,580	\$ 9,725,440	\$ 6,254,300	\$ 3,283,160	\$ 2,562,020	\$ 2,590,880	\$ 2,619,740
O&M Expenses										
Access Fee paid to Electric Division	489,687	2,395,084	5,715,576	9,780,185	13,996,527	17,630,826	21,380,482	23,161,359	23,538,577	23,831,686
EL Distribution System Utilization Fee	390,204	1,099,800	1,962,036	2,862,036	3,473,460	4,229,532	5,030,928	5,030,928	5,030,928	5,030,928
Telephone Cost of Goods Sold	108,662	549,259	833,969	1,264,763	1,378,146	1,613,157	1,549,844	1,629,640	1,504,702	1,501,120
Television Cost of Goods Sold	1,336,863	5,308,604	10,745,059	16,292,100	21,298,561	24,924,996	27,205,935	28,599,949	29,041,057	28,964,749
Allocated Expenses	557,310	2,287,200	4,104,030	5,407,020	7,383,241	8,186,882	9,019,503	11,507,641	11,760,770	12,013,899
Interest Expense on Loan	480,000	1,071,000	1,209,750	1,147,875	1,084,875	1,021,875	958,875	662,325	122,325	0
Direct O&M	6,175,477	9,907,543	12,506,933	14,018,771	14,582,462	15,057,922	16,745,993	16,317,531	16,596,228	16,910,386
Total O&M	\$ 9,538,203	\$22,618,490	\$37,077,352	\$50,772,750	\$63,197,273	\$72,665,190	\$81,891,560	\$ 86,909,374	\$87,594,588	\$ 88,252,767
Taxes and Equivalents										
PILOTs on Net Plant	-	24,675	66,941	116,635	219,287	395,909	502,350	549,153	579,875	609,207
Employer Portion of Taxes	113,387	226,825	329,885	399,941	439,990	467,676	524,341	515,749	531,493	547,515
Total Taxes and Equivalents	\$ 113,387	\$ 251,500	\$ 396,826	\$ 516,575	\$ 659,277	\$ 863,585	\$ 1,026,691	\$ 1,064,903	\$ 1,111,368	\$ 1,156,722
Total Cash Expenditures	\$10,959,590	\$25,162,750	\$40,252,359	\$56,985,905	\$73,581,990	\$79,783,075	\$86,201,411	\$ 90,536,297	\$91,296,836	\$ 92,029,229
Cash Reserves										\$ 11,031,596
Repayment of Debt to Electric		750,000	1,562,500	1,750,000	1,750,000	1,750,000	8,237,500	15,000,000	4,200,000	-
Total Cash Disbursements	\$10,959,590	\$25,912,750	\$41,814,859	\$58,735,905	\$75,331,990	\$81,533,075	\$94,438,911	\$ 105,536,297	\$95,496,836	\$ 103,060,825

Included in the Use of Proceeds statement above are Access and Electric Distribution System Utilization fees paid by the Fiber Division to the Electric Division annually. Shown below is the calculation of the annual fees.

Fiber Division Access Fee Calculation		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10
Total Gross Plant Fiber Services		7,200,000	25,782,200	45,692,823	65,223,320	83,479,598	98,014,095	115,119,423	119,514,473	123,057,114	126,674,151
Total Gross Plant EL Distribution System I	ı	31,988,927	69,561,727	114,282,446	161,804,881	208,749,597	255,237,797	300,436,644	307,607,514	315,873,677	324,313,430
Total Accummulated Depreciation		972,714	3,103,084	7,393,416	14,117,083	23,344,105	34,928,554	48,937,007	64,898,451	81,263,636	98,078,830
Net Plant	\$	38,216,213	\$ 92,240,843	\$ 152,581,853	\$ 212,911,118	\$ 268,885,090	\$ 318,323,338	\$ 366,619,059	\$ 362,223,536	\$ 357,667,156	\$ 352,908,751
Total CWIP		1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000
Less: Capitalized interest		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Net Value	\$	39,216,213	\$ 93,240,843	\$ 153,581,853	\$ 213,911,118	\$ 269,885,090	\$ 319,323,338	\$ 367,619,059	\$ 363,223,536	\$ 358,667,156	\$ 353,908,751
Rate from Bond		0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000	0.04000
Value of Money	\$	1,568,649	\$ 3,729,634	\$ 6,143,274	\$ 8,556,445	\$ 10,795,404	\$ 12,772,934	\$ 14,704,762	\$ 14,528,941	\$ 14,346,686	\$ 14,156,350
EL O&M (Network Ops and Fiber Maint)		2,400,000	4,668,300	7,469,200	9,702,000	11,592,000	12,995,000	15,028,000	15,366,000	15,824,800	16,165,400
Annual Depreciation non Services		367,557	1,279,557	2,782,469	4,571,298	6,472,195	8,349,984	10,209,512	12,017,466	12,304,301	12,634,947
Property Tax Non Services		166,415	596,537	1,288,143	2,103,447	2,966,212	3,815,963	4,657,539	5,475,135	5,576,306	5,726,836
Total Expense to Allocate	\$	4,502,621	\$ 10,274,028	\$ 17,683,086	\$ 24,933,190	\$ 31,825,810	\$ 37,933,881	\$ 44,599,813	\$ 47,387,542	\$ 48,052,093	\$ 48,683,533
Electric Portion of the Costs		4,277,627	8,888,196	13,968,316	18,145,484	21,752,058	24,997,903	28,691,830	30,094,744	30,507,494	30,955,411
Fiber Division Access Fees		224,993	1,385,832	3,714,771	6,787,705	10,073,752	12,935,977	15,907,982	17,292,798	17,544,599	17,728,122
	\$	4,502,621	\$ 10,274,028	\$ 17,683,086	\$ 24,933,190	\$ 31,825,810	\$ 37,933,881	\$ 44,599,813	\$ 47,387,542	\$ 48,052,093	\$ 48,683,533
PILOTs Services		-	131,346	465,848	813,016	1,140,855	1,433,290	1,646,465	1,897,490	1,905,999	1,896,223
Annual Depreciation Services		237,600	850,813	1,507,863	2,152,370	2,754,827	3,234,465	3,798,941	3,943,978	4,060,885	4,180,247
Facilities Rent		27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094	27,094
		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10
Electric Access Fee Revenue	\$	489,687	\$ 2,395,084	\$ 5,715,576	\$ 9,780,185	\$ 13,996,527	\$ 17,630,826	\$ 21,380,482	\$ 23,161,359	\$ 23,538,577	\$ 23,831,686
EL Distribution System Utilization Fee	\$	390,204	\$ 1,099,800	\$ 1,962,036	\$ 2,862,036	\$ 3,473,460	\$ 4,229,532	\$ 5,030,928	\$ 5,030,928	\$ 5,030,928	\$ 5,030,928
EL Reduction in O&M & CAP Expense	\$	557,310	\$ 1,263,096	\$ 2,266,433	\$ 2,986,004	\$ 4,077,363	\$ 4,521,171	\$ 4,980,982	\$ 6,420,940	\$ 6,562,179	\$ 6,703,417
Total Cash Impact to Electric Division	\$	1,437,201	\$ 4,757,981	\$ 9,944,045	\$ 15,628,225	\$ 21,547,351	\$ 26,381,529	\$ 31,392,392	\$ 34,613,227	\$ 35,131,684	\$ 35,566,031
Cash Paid to the Electric Division	\$	879,891	\$ 3,494,884	\$ 7,677,612	\$ 12,642,221	\$ 17,469,987	\$ 21,860,358	\$ 26,411,410	\$ 28,192,287	\$ 28,569,505	\$ 28,862,614

Conclusion

KUB's proposed Fiber Division, with 35 percent market share, is projected to serve more than 70,000 homes and 4,500 businesses with internet, television, and voice services across the Knox County, Tennessee region and parts of seven surrounding counties. Full deployment is projected to be complete within seven years with a complete repayment of debt by year nine.

Benefits to KUB's electric system from the investment in fiber across its distribution system include enhanced fault location, improved reliability of services, and optimal position for the next generation of automated metering.

KUB is committed to serving the community and its customers with fiber optic technology that will enhance the operation and reliability of its electric service and make Gigabit-speed internet and broadband services available to all of its electric service territory customers.

Appendices

Appendix A – Purchase Intent Study Report

Appendix B – Resolution 1433 – Approval to submit business plan

Appendix C – FY 2020 Consolidated Audited Financial Statements

Appendix D – Loan Amortization Schedule